DIVISION III COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 33355-8

Spokane County Superior Court Case No. 13-3-02021-0 The Honorable Linda Tompkins Superior Court Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

In Re:

MICHELLE LACLAE CUMMINGS, RESPONDENT

V.

DAVID ALLEN CUMMINGS, APPELLANT

Stenzel Law Office
Gary R. Stenzel, WSBA # 16974
Attorney for Appellant
1304 W. College Ave. LL
Spokane, Washington 99201
Stenz2193@comcast.net
(509) 327-2000

I. FACTS

This case presents the divorce of two older people who were both employed during the marriage (RP 361-362) and who had been married for 34 years (RP 361). Mr. Cummings was a self employed professional appraiser with his office in the family home (RP 189-190) and the wife is a nurse who specializes in nursing home administration (RP 362). They both made about the same net income, except that the couple arranged and managed by Mr. owned rentals, Cummings because of his real estate affiliations. RP 362-365. As a result of Mr. Cummings lifetime of real estate involvement, the parties had acquired a few rentals, obviously their family home (again, used by the husband as his business office in Cheney, Washington), and a commercial building on "Dean". RP 13 & 190.

During the trial the focus was clearly on describing the family home (where Mr. Cummings lived and worked), the commercial Dean property, and the "rentals". RP 60-112 generally. Ms. Cummings went back and forth on what arrangement would be best for

the distribution, however, she focused on the family home being a place she wanted so she could visit with her grandchildren, even though the family home was in such bad repair that the wife admitted that the grandchildren should not walk near certain areas of the property. See RP 126. Nevertheless, the wife indicated that she wanted Mr. Cummings to have the "rentals" over and over, narrowing the case down to the family home on Montague and the Dean property. See RP 60-139.

As the trial wound down there was a focus on some of the details of the parties' personal lives. Ms. Cummings lived away from the Montague home in an apartment and wanted something bigger to visit with her grandchildren. RP 163. In contrast, Mr. Cummings lived at the Montague home and again ran his appraisal and rental business out of that home. RP 189-190. This fact

¹ The focus of this appeal will be on the distribution of the two properties known as the Dean and Montague properties (and thus RCW 26.09.080), as well as the unusual sanction of having to pay his own attorney \$1,000. Other issues such as the husband's alleged "intransigence", failure to fully answer all discovery, and/or the use of 3 different attorneys are not addressed in this appeal, and are irrelevant to the outcome in this matter, as well as the alleged errors by this judge.

was never denied by Ms. Cummings throughout the entire trial. See RP generally. At no time was there any testimony about any other options for Mr. Cummings' business other than the Montague home. Id. However, there was un-refuted evidence that his primary business took place around the area of their home, Cheney, Washington. RP 189-190. At one point the wife's attorney tried to get Mr. Cummings to say that his business was not doing well in Cheney, however, again, Mr. Cummings responded with a clear and unmistakable statement that if there was going to be more business, it is based on your business address since the banks that hire the appraisers look at the business address and parcel out their appraisals based on that location. He said at page 189 -190 of the RP:

Q: So the bank chooses the appraiser based on location. Is that what you're saying?

A: I'm saying – yes, I'm saying that.

Q: Okay.

A: And then once that person gets to know you, they don't always run it through that program. But the program will pick the appraiser's physical location, and then they will assign orders based on that.

Q: And what physical location does your business show up at when the bank runs through this program?

A: The last eight years at 72 Montague Drive, Cheney.

Q: And did you just testify that the appraisal assignments are based upon location?

A: Most – not all the time, but most of the time now.

Q: Okay so if your were to relocate, say, to Liberty Lake, could you work in the Liberty Lake market the same way you could work in the Cheney and Palouse market?

A: Absolutely not.

At no time did the husband indicate that he had to move from the Cheney area and "branch out" to find more work. His focus was on remaining in the Cheney Montague home to continue his business.

One fact of lesser importance, but of seeming importance to the judge was the "relationship between the parties and their grandchildren". In the court's final oral decision, the judge indicated that her primary reason for awarding the Montague home to the wife was due to three primary reasons. RP 368-369. She said in her ruling the following:

"The family home at 712 North Drive is Montague in close proximity to the grandchildren, and both claimed to want to live in the home in order to be closer to the children and grandchildren. Husband's [sic] caring for [sic] grandchildren was a very recent vintage based on his work flexibility. However, I didn't see an overall history of profound and consistent involvement as was the case with the wife.

Further, his geographic market, generally centered in the west plains and the Palouse, was also changing. He lost a major account, and it was clear he was going to have to branch out geographically.

Third, he does have the potential for work from the Dean site, but the Court will go through that analysis." RP 368-369.

The judge subsequently gave the family home to the wife so she could spend more time with the grandchildren. RP 367-369. There appeared to be no other clear reason for this allocation since in her final comment she said why this decision and distribution was made, as follows:

"In the balance, it was more beneficial to award the family home to the wife as it related to the children's and grandchildren's involvement." RP 369, Lines 8-10.

In seeming support for this decision the Court indicated that Mr. Cummings could possibly also relocate his business to the "Dean" office building, therefore, he would not need the Montague home. See RP 369 Lines 5-7. However, the judge then gave the wife the Dean house as well, she said at RP 369 line 19-21. Stating: "Although the wife is not requesting it, the court is satisfied that the Dean property is more equitably awarded to the wife."

The upshot of this ruling was that because the wife had a better relationship with the grandchildren she was awarded the family home, and although she said the husband could work out of the Dean property, she gave that to the wife as well. This decision basically destroyed the husband's appraisal business until he finds a new place to work, and rebuild his practice, and completely ignored his

unrebutted testimony and the 30 years of building this West side mortgage appraisal business.

More importantly the judge failed to use any of the factors required by the statutes in the distribution of marital property, and instead based it on what appears to be an irrelevant emotional family issue, their relationship with their grandchildren. Had Mr. Cummings ever thought that this would be the controlling issue in his livelihood, he would have set aside daily contact with his grandchildren, to become a Super-grandparent. Instead, he simply lost out to his wife, who made them the focus of her life. (It should be noted that the Judge did this in spite of the fact that she admitted that the parties had no dependent children in their lives in her recitation of the facts of the case. See RP 362.)

Finally, to cap all this off the judge sanctioned the husband for what she saw was intransigence in discovery by forcing him to pay his own counsel sanctions in the amount of \$1,000. RP 366 Lines 14-

19. Yes, she sanctioned him in favor of his own attorney, placing his attorney in what was then an adversarial position.

II. JUDICIAL ERROR

- 1. The judge committed error by failing to base the property distribution on the statutory requirements of RCW 26.09.080;
- 2. The judge committed error by specifically using a primary factor that is not part of the statutorily required factors under RCW 26.09 et seq, i.e. the parties' relationship with their grandchildren;
- 3. The judge committed error by awarding fees from him to his attorney, in a manner not allowed by law.

III. LAW & ARGUMENT

A. It is error for a judge to fail to use the statutory required factors at RCW 26.09.080 in the distribution of marital property in a dissolution matter.

In any dissolution trial/case, it is required that the Superior Court Judge presiding over the case use

the factors outlined at RCW 26.09.080 to distribute the marital property. That statute states:

In a proceeding for dissolution of marriage or domestic partnership, legal separation, declaration of invalidity, or in a proceeding for disposition of property following dissolution of the marriage or the domestic partnership by a court which lacked personal jurisdiction over the absent spouse or absent domestic partner or lacked jurisdiction to dispose of the property, the court shall, without regard to misconduct, make such disposition of the property and the parties, liabilities of the either community or separate, as shall appear just and equitable after considering all relevant factors including, but not limited to:

- (1) The nature and extent of the community property;
- (2) The nature and extent of the separate property;
- (3) The duration of the marriage or domestic partnership; and
- (4) The economic circumstances of each spouse or domestic partner at the time the division of property is to become effective, including the desirability of awarding the family home or the right to live therein for reasonable periods to a spouse or domestic partner with whom the children reside the majority of the time.

A property division made during the dissolution of a marriage will be reversed on appeal only if there is a manifest abuse of discretion. In re Marriage of Kraft, 119 Wash.2d 438, 450, 832 P.2d 871 (1992). "A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wash.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997). It is manifestly unreasonable or the decision is based on untenable ground or reasons if the statutes are not followed as to the process of the dissolution. Id. Specifically, the trial judge is not required to make a specific 50/50 distribution, that is up to each judge, however, they must use the factors outlined at section .080 of the RCW or their decision will likely be found to be based on untenable grounds. See In re Marriage of Muhammad, 108 P.3d 779, 153 Wn.2d 795 (Wash. 2005); State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wash.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971); In re Marriage of Underwood, 326 P.3d 793, 181 Wn.App. 608 (Wash.App. Div. 2 2014) [reviewing the Muhammad

case and the need to apply RCW 26.09.080 factors in the distribution of property in a divorce action.] If a Superior Court Judge fails to follow this statute and apply these factors it is error. *Id*.

In reviewing the history of the application of the factors at section .080, the courts are somewhat scattered in their interpretation. However, of all the factors, it appears that it is the "economic circumstances that each of the parties are left with at the time of the distribution" that is of paramount importance in the distribution. See *In re Marriage of Crosetto*, 82 Wn.App. 545, 556, 918 P.2d 954 (1996); *In re Marriage of Tower*, 55 Wn.App. 697, 700, 780 P.2d 863 (1989); *In re Marriage of Griswold*, 112 Wn.App. 333, 347, 48 P.3d 1018 (2002); *Matter of Olivares*, 69 Wash.App. 324, 848 P.2d 1176 (cert. denied) (1993).

In this case, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law do not provide enough clarity about the application of the factors at .080. The court

may reference the record of the proceedings, specifically the court's oral ruling, to see what the Judge said about the distribution and what was used to determine the division of property ordered. See e.g. *In re Marriage of Horner*, 93 P.3d 124, 151 Wn.2d 884 (Wash. 2004).

In this case, as pointed out, the oral ruling falls short of applying the statutory factors at .080 to this distribution, especially in the application of the statutory factors. The relationship between the grandchildren and the parties is not a relevant factor to base the distribution of the property on in any case. Therefore, the decree's distribution of the family home and the Dean property needs to either be remanded or revised on appeal.

B. The Judge in this case completely failed to follow the factor of RCW 26.09.080 in the distribution of the parties property and the decree should be overturned.

A review of the record and oral ruling of the judge in this case shows that the parties had two primary pieces of property of significance. They have the "family residence" used by the husband solely for

his private appraisal service. And the commercial rental on Dean. It was very clear that the judge failed to make her decision based on the final economic circumstances of the parties, especially the husband. He basically lost his entire business, except what he could take with him in his head or "rolla-dex". RCW 26.09.080 was not followed in this case in this distribution.

C. There is no law that allows the court to order the sanctions to be paid to a parties own attorney for alleged intransigence.

As can be seen, the Judge in this case ordered Mr. Cummings to pay his own counsel sanctions of \$1,000.00. RCW 26.09.140 is the statute that deals with fees in a dissolution of marriage. That statute is based on an analysis of the income and needs of both parties, it does not allow for sanctions against you as a party to pay your particular attorney.

There are obviously court rules that allow for the award of fees for intransigence, however, those rules only apply for fees for the other parties' counsel, not your own counsel. This part of the decree should

also be overturned.

IV. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the court committed reversible

error by a failure to properly apply the factors of RCW

26.09.080 in the distribution of the parties' property.

By so doing they completely destroyed the husband's

business and past business associations using his

family home residence as his business place.

Additionally, the court compounded this error by

ordering payment of sanctions to the Respondent's

own counsel from him personally. The decree should

be vacated as to the distribution of the real property.