I. INTRODUCTION AND RELIEF REQUESTED 

This is divorce action for a 34-year marriage. At issue on appeal is 

the award of two of the parties' five real properties. Appellant's theory of 

the case is that, in distributing two of the parties real properties, (the 

family home on Montague Drive and a commercial rental property on 

Dean) the superior court failed to apply RCW 26.09.080 properly. 

Appellant tells this Court that the only reason the trial Court awarded the 

family home to Mrs. Cummings was because, " ... the wife had a better 

relationship with the grandchildren." Opening Brief, pg. 6. Respondent 

strongly disagrees. In the statement of the case, Respondent makes a 

thorough recitation of facts and evidence the trial Court considered, and 

the trial court's rulings, including that the trial Court found the Appellant's 

testimony "less than credible," RP 364, lns. 25; 365, lns. 1-5, all of which 

shows that the issues raised on appeal are so far from reasonable that fees 

should be awarded to Respondent for having to defend against this appeal. 

II. RESPONDENT'S COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The parties were married on April 15, 1979 in Cheney, WA. CP 4. 

Two children were born of this marriage, but they were adults by the time 

of trial. RP 362, Ins. 2-3. The parties separated on May 13, 2013. CP 361, 

In. 25. This was a 34-year marriage. RP 368, ln. 8. Mrs. Cummings 

testified that she left the marital home on May 13, 2013. Mr. Cummings 
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testified that he offered to let Mrs. Cummings stay in the marital home, 

but that she refused. RP 173, Ins. 6-23. At the time of separation, the 

parties had acquired significant community property assets. CP 44-4 7, 

Asset Liability Spreadsheet. At the time of trial, Mr. Cummings had 

acquired four retirement accounts and 15 ounces of gold through and 

Inheritance from his mother. CP 44-47. The parties' real properties were 

located at 712 N. Montague Drive, Cheney, WA; a duplex located at 

712/714 E. North, Spokane, WA; a duplex located at 403/405 W. Wabash, 

Spokane, WA; a duplex located at 811/815 E. Garland, Spokane, WA, and 

a commercial property located at 1618 W. Dean, Spokane, WA. CP 44. 

The real property located at 712 N. Montague was the family home. CP 

44. See also, RP 368, In. 18. The remaining properties were rental or 

income properties. Id. Mrs. Cummings had no retirement benefits as of 

separation, but the evidence at trial showed that Mr. Cummings had three 

community property retirement benefits. RP 44, Ins. 5-8, CP 46. Mr. 

Cummings' community property retirement benefits included a Charles 

Schwab IRA, an Oak Mark Money Market Investment Account, and a 

Wang Laboratories/Prudential retirement plan. Id. Other community 

assets included 5 vehicles and 5 bank accounts. CP 45-46. Mr. Cummings 

also inherited separate property assets from his mother; which included a 

Sun America retirement account, Hartford Annuity, D. A. Davidson 
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retirement account, an AIG variable annuity and 15 ounces of gold. CP 

47. At trial, Mr. Cummings' separate property assets were valued at 

$75,847. RP 375, Ins. 4-13. Mrs. Cummings did not have any separate 

property assets. CP 44-49, RP 374, ln. 4. 

At the time of separation, the parties also had community liabilities 

in the forms of mortgages on four of the properties and a HELOC secured 

by the marital home. CP 47-48. See also, CP 4-6. At the time of trial 

neither party had any separate debts. CP 47-48. On November 15, 2013, 

the parties entered into an agreed order whereby Mr. Cummings would 

pay $500 to Mrs. Cummings each month from rental income. CP 89-90. 

Mr. Cummings continued to pay $500 per month to Mrs. Cummings 

through March of 2015. RP 37, Ins. 5-14, RP 44, Ins. 9- 16. 

1. Preparation for Trial 

In preparation for this dissolution of marriage trial, counsel for the 

parties prepared a joint trial management report which listed all of the 

parties' disputed issues, exhibits, and witnesses. CP 37-43. The issues in 

dispute for this trial were spousal maintenance for the wife, distribution of 

the community and separate property assets, distribution of community 

liabilities, and attorney fees and costs. CP 38. Attached to the joint trial 

management report was an asset-liability spread sheet; wherein each party 

set forth their lists of community assets and liabilities, values for those 
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assets and liabilities, and their proposed distributions of the assets and 

liability obligations. CP 44-50. Also included in the asset liability spread 

sheet were the values for each of Mr. Cummings' separate property assets 

and the parties' proposed distributions of those assets. CP 46-47. 

2. Trial Exhibits and Stipulations at Trial 

Trial of this dissolution action commenced on March 23, 2015, 

continued on March 24, 2015, and was completed on March 30, 2015. 

The Court's oral ruling was issued on April 2, 2015. RP 2. 

3. Exhibits submitted for trial: 

Because spousal maintenance, distribution of assets, and attorney fees 

were at issue, the parties both submitted exhibits to support their claimed 

incomes and financial circumstances at the time of trial. Mrs. Cummings 

provided copies of her pay statements, 2013 tax return and W-2, 2014 W-

2, and a financial declaration prepared for trial. Ex, P-1, P-2, P-3. Mr. 

Cummings also provided copies of documents to support his claimed 

income and financial circumstances as of the time of trial. Ex, R 109-R 

Prior to trial the parties, per agreement, secured appraisals of all five of 

their real properties, and copies of those appraisals were submitted as 

exhibits for trial. Ex, P-4- P-8, See also, RP 45, Ins. 23-25, pg. 46, Ins. 1-

4. Mortgage statements and a statement showing the balance of the 
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HELOC loan were submitted at trial as well. Ex, R-119. Mrs. Cummings 

also submitted exhibits to show the values of amounts in the parties' two 

Joint Banner Bank accounts, their rental property account, Mr. Cummings 

account for his business, Professional Appraisals, and a Wheatland Bank 

account. Ex, P-15-P-20. Those exhibits were admitted at trial as set forth 

below. Mrs. Cummings also submitted exhibits at trial to show the values 

of Mr. Cummings' community retirement benefits with Charles Schwab, 

Oak Mark, and Wang Laboratories. Ex, P-20-P-22. Those exhibits were 

also admitted at trial; as set forth below. Mrs. Cummings submitted 

documentation to verify the value of Mr. Cummings Sun America and D. 

A. Davidson retirement benefits and the Hartford and American General 

annuities he inherited from his mother. Ex, P-23-P-26. Those exhibits 

were admitted at trial as well. Lastly, Mrs. Cummings submitted copies of 

Mr. Cummings 2011-2013 Professional Appraisal tax returns, and his 

Professional Appraisal bank statements for 5/30/14 through 12/31/14. Ex, 

P-29-31, and P-42. All of those exhibits were admitted at trial for the 

purposes of showing assets available to Mr. Cummings, (community and 

separate retirement accounts), community bank accounts, and Mr. 

Cummings incomes for 2013 and 2014. 

Mr. Cummings also filed exhibits to support his claimed amounts 

for his income, from his business and the rentals, and values for the 
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community retirement benefits. Ex, R 111-R 118. Specifically, Mr. 

Cummings submitted copies of checks from his business account, checks 

form the parties joint Banner Bank account, statements for his Charles 

Schwab and Oakmark retirement accounts, his 2014 business tax return, 

and rental ledger. Ex, R 111 -R 116, and R 118. Those exhibits were 

admitted at trial. 

4. Stipulations at trial: 

The parties stipulated to the values for the five real properties set 

forth in the asset liability spreadsheet; which were based upon the 

appraised values set forth in Mrs. Cummings' trial exhibits P-4 through P-

8. Ex, P-4 - P-8, see also, RP 7, Ins. 4-8. These values were later adopted 

by the trial judge. RP 369, Ins. 14-18. 

The parties also stipulated to the values for the four outstanding 

mortgages and the HELOC set forth in the parties' asset-liability 

spreadsheet, and Mr. Cummings' exhibit R 119, and those values were 

adopted by the Court at trial. RP 7, Ins. 5-8: RP 18, Ins. 1-3: RP 376, Ins. 

10-24. 

The parties stipulated to the admissibility of Mrs. Cummings' 

exhibits, P-1 through 31, and P 37-P-40. RP 7, Ins. 11-16, also Ins. 17-21. 

Significant for this appeal are Mrs. Cummings Exhibits P-1 

through P-3; as those exhibits were provided to show Mrs. Cummings' 
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economic circumstances as of the time of trial, and included copies of 

Mrs. Cummings most recent pay statements, Mrs. Cummings 2013 tax 

return and W-2, 2014 W-2, and her financial declaration prepared for trial. 

Ex. P-1, P-2, P-3. 

Additionally, the parties stipulated to the admissibility of Mr. 

Cummings' exhibits, R-101, R 103-106, R 109, R 111-R 116, R 118-R 

119. RP 7, ln. 23-25, pg. 8, lns. 1-9. Significant for this appeal were Mr. 

Cummings' exhibits R-111, R 112, R-113, R-116, and R-118; as those 

exhibits were submitted to show Mr. Cummings' economic circumstances 

at the time of trial and verify most recent incomes to Mr. Cummings from 

his business, Professional Appraisals, and the parties' rental properties. 

Ex R-111, 112, 113, 118. R-116 was a copy of Mr. Cummings' 2014 

business tax return and W-2. Ex. R 116. 

5. Testimony And Evidence Presented On Spousal 
Maintenance 

A. Length of Marriage: 

Mrs. Cummings testified that the parties were married on April 15, 

1979 and that the parties separated on May 13, 2013. RP 22, lns. 15-17, 

25, pg. 3, lns. 1-2. Mrs. Cummings testified that she was seeking a 

spousal maintenance award in the amount of $500 per month until she 

reached the age of 65. RP 23, lns. 21-25, pg. 24, lns. 1-3. She testified 

that the parties had been married for 34 years. RP 24, lns. 15-19. 
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B. Parties' Education and Work Experiences: 

Ms. Cummings testified that she had a Master's degree, an MBA 

in health care management, that she was an R.N, was a certified 

gerontology nurse, and a licensed nursing home administrator. RP 24, Ins. 

22-25, pg. 25, lns. 1-3. Mrs. Cummings testified that Mr. Cummings had 

a Bachelor's of Arts in Business Administration, that he was a licensed 

real estate broker, and a licensed real estate appraiser. RP 25, lns. 9-16. 

Mr. Cummings provided testimony regarding Mr. Cummings' work 

history from the time of their marriage to the time of trial. RP 29, lns. 1-

Mr. Cummings testified that he had a real estate broker's license, 

but that he had not used that license to earn any commission since 1987. 

RP 173, lns. 24-25; RP 174, lns. 4-6. 

C. Parties' Health Issues That May Affect Future 
Employment: 

Both parties testified about their health issues. RP 27, lns. 23-25, pg. 28, 

ln. 1. RP 27, Ins. 19-20. RP 28, Ins. 9-11, RP 177, lns. 1-19. RP 177, Ins. 

20-23. 

6. Incomes and Financial Obligations of Parties At Time of 
Trial: 

Mr. Cummings' attorney stated in her opening statement that, 

We also expect the evidence to show that both parties are educated, 
sophisticated professionals; that both parties are financially 
independent. And we will expect the evidence to show that Mrs. 
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Cummings makes significantly more money than Mr. Cummings 
and that, therefore, spousal maintenance will not be necessary in 
this case. RP 21, Ins. 7-13. 

MRS. CUMMINGS: 

Mrs. Cummings identified Exhibit P-1; which were copies of her 

pays statements for October 6, 2014 through March 6, 2016. RP 32, Ins. 

2-16, Ex, P-1. She testified that she currently earned $34 per hour and that 

she was paid bi-monthly. RP 32. Ins. 17-20. Mrs. Cummings also 

identified Exhibit P-2 as her 2013 tax return, and that she reported a gross 

taxable income for the 2013 tax year of $62, 387. RP 33, Ins. 10-22, Ex, 

P-2. Mrs. Cummings also reported that $6,617 was withheld for federal 

income taxes and that she owed $2,418 in additional taxes for the 2013 tax 

year. RP 34, Ins. 8-11. Mrs. Cummings identified her 2013 W-2, 

incorporated into Exhibit P-2; which reflected "wages, tips. and other 

compensation" for 2013 in the amount of $62, 387. RP 34, Ins. 14-23. 

Mrs. Cummings also identified her 2014 W-2, incorporated into Exhibit P-

2, and testified that her gross earnings for the 2014 tax year amounted to 

$63, 357.24. RP 35. lns. 1-14. Lastly, Mrs. Cummings identified her 

financial declaration; which was prepared for trial, as Exhibit P-3. RP 35 

Ins. 15-20, Ex. P-3. 

In reviewing the disclosures in her financial declaration, Mrs. 

Cummings testified that her gross monthly income was $5,279.77, and 
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that amount was calculated by dividing her gross annual 2014 earnings by 

12 months. RP 36, Ins. 9-18. Mrs. Cummings incorporated $500 per 

month as "spousal maintenance" into her financial declaration, because 

she hoped that payment would continue. RP 37, Ins. 5-15, and Ex. P-3. 

Ms. Cummings went on to explain how her net monthly income was 

calculated. RP 37, lns. 21-25, pg. 38, Ins. 1-19. Mrs. Cummings testified 

that she had twenty dollars in cash and $4,000 in the bank at that time. 

RP, pg. 37, lns. 22-25, pg. 38, lns. 1-3. Mrs. Cummings testified to the 

amounts of each of her monthly expenses as set forth in her financial 

declaration. RP 39, Ins. 6-25 through pg. 44, ln. 4. She concluded that her 

monthly expenses, excluding the amounts owed for her attorney fees, 

amounted to $4,132.42. RP 43, Ins. 18-20. Mrs. Cummings' monthly 

expenses set forth in her financial declaration included, but were not 

limited to, rent, food, utilities, supplies, vehicle and vehicle insurance 

payments, gasoline, health insurance and uninsured medical, support for 

her son, tithing, and gifts for the parties' grandchildren. RP 39, Ins. 6-25 

through pg. 44, In. 4. 

MR. CUMMINGS: 

Mr. Cummings testified about his income at trial. RP 174, ln.14. 

Mr. Cummings testified that that he has never earned income in the 

amount of $15,000 per month. RP 175, Ins. 3-18. Mr. Cummings 
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identified Exhibit R-116 as his 2014 business tax return, and testified that 

his gross income for 2014; as depicted on line 10 of that return amounted 

to $57,913. RP 176, Ins. 3-11. Mr. Cummings also identified Exhibit R-

120, (not admitted), as his 2013 personal income tax return, and that his 

income from all sources for 2013 amounted to $55, 963. RP 176, lns. 12-

24. Unlike Mrs. Cummings, Mr. Cummings did not produce a current 

declaration of his financial circumstances at trial. RP 203, Ins. 24-25, pg. 

203, lns. 1-11. Instead, Mr. Cummings' attorney asked him to orally 

testify as to his monthly expenses as of the time of trial. RP 204, Ins. 13-

H,_ "Let's talk about your costs of daily living. Did you submit a financial 

declaration?" RP 203, Ins. 24-25. He testified that he paid $500 per 

month for medical insurance, $75-$100 per month for medication costs, 

$100 per month for gas, $175 for electric, water, garbage, and sewer, (later 

stated $170), $80 per month for telephone, $69 for cable, $50 for internet, 

$400 for mortgage, taxes, and insurance, less than $400 per month for 

food, $67 ($800 per year), for vehicle insurances, $400 per month for 

gifts, $400 per month for gas, $50 per year for vehicle license and tabs, 

and $200 per month for credit card payments, $40 per month for haircuts, 

for a total of $3,026 in monthly expenses. RP 204, Ins. 20-25 through RP, 

pg. 209, In. 12. Mr. Cummings also testified that he had two credit card 

debts at the time of trial, one was an Alaska Airlines card with 
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approximately $4,000 owed and the other had a balance of $600 or $700. 

RP 208, Ins. 17-23. 

On cross examination, Ms. Cummings' attorney challenged Mr. 

Cummings as to why he only provided copies of checks from his 

Professional Appraisals business account for January 11, 2013 through 

December 28, 2013, when Mrs. Cummings' discovery requests, 

Production of Documents# 20, specifically asked for, among other things, 

canceled checks for the last three years. Ex, P-41, R 111, and RP 247, Ins. 

13-25, RP 248, Ins. 1-25, RP 249, Ins. 1-25, RP 250, Ins. 1-25. Ms. 

Cummings' attorney also challenged the 2014 business tax return and W-2 

Mr. Cummings filed in support of his claimed income. Ex, R 116. RP 

251, Ins. 12-25, RP 251, lns.1-3. It is important to note that Mr. 

Cummings did not provide a copy of his 2014 personal tax return for trial. 

Ex R 101-R 119; RP 262, Ins. 4-13. Though Mr. Cummings earlier 

testified that he had no business employees, he indicated on line 18 of his 

2014 tax return that he had paid $17,050 in employee benefits. Ex, R 116. 

RP, 254, Ins. 1-25, RP 255, Ins. 1-11. It was clear on cross-examination of 

Mr. Cummings that the only evidence he provided to show what his 2014 

income was were a self-created W-2, and a 2014 tax return that was signed 

on November 14, 2014, and apparently submitted to the IRS prior to the 

end of the 2014 tax year. RP 245, Ins. 16-25, RP 246, Ins. 1-25, RP 251, 
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Ins. 12-25, RP 252, Ins. 1-3, RP 255, Ins. 5-20, RP 256, Ins. 1-25, RP 257, 

Ins. 1-8. 

On direct Mr. Cummings testified his clients were business 

entities, but he did not produce a single 1099 or W-2 to show the amounts 

he was paid in the 2014 tax year for appraisals he completed for those 

clients. Ex, R 101-R 119, See also, RP 280, Ins. 7-9. When asked how he 

arrived at the number he claimed on line 6 of his 2014 tax return for his 

taxable income, he testified that 70% of his business came from 

Washington State Employees Credit Union; to which Mr. Cummings 

responded, 

I, um-my income is-when I get paid for an appraisal, I take a 
copy of the check and put it in a folder, and I do that with every 
appraisal. And I provided-you know, you've been provided with 
that for three years. And if, um-and then I add up on the folder
I've got a whole bunch of them there to show you if you need to 
look at them-I add up on the folder for that month all the check's 
I've received. RP 279, lns 5-15. 

On re-direct examination, Mr. Cummings' attorney asked him ifhe gets 

1099s; to which Mr. Cummings responded, "From 30, 40 percent of the 

clients-people that I work with." There were no follow up questions. RP 

313, lns. 21-22. 

When challenged on cross examination with, "Sir, isn't it true that 

with regards to these numbers on page 8 of Exhibit 116 that you have not 

provided this Court with verification of any of these numbers," Mr. 
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Cummings responded, "Um, No." RP 282, Ins. 14-25, through RP 284, In. 

23. When asked to tell the Court why we did not have his 2014 personal 

tax return for trial, Mr. Cummings responded, "I don't have them done." 

RP 285, Ins. 13-15. 

On direct examination, Mr. Cummings testified that he lost a client 

that he did a lot of work for over 10 to 15 years. RP 189, Ins. 5-9. Mr. 

Cummings provided no evidence at trial to verify this claim. Ex R 101-R 

119, RP 170-332. On cross-examination, Mr. Cummings testified that he 

did seventy percent of his appraisals for Washington State Employees 

Credit Union. RP 279, Ins. 16-19. He also testified that, " ... probably 

15% were for Wells Fargo." RP 280, Ins. 3-4. When questioned about the 

expenses claimed on his 2014 Schedule C for mileage, Mr. Cummings 

testified that he no longer had the account with Washington State 

Employees Credit Union. RP 282, Ins. 21-25, RP 283, Ins. 1-4. Mr. 

Cummings went on to testify that because he lost Washington State 

Employees Credit Union as a client he no longer did appraisals in 

Pullman, WA and that, "I've kind of had to re-create my whole process 

because I'm not approved with them anymore." RP 283, Ins. 3-8. When 

trial resumed on March 30, 2015, on cross-examination Mr. Cummings 

was again asked to disclose who his clients were in 2014. Mr. Cummings 

testified that he wasn't doing it for Washington State Employees Credit 
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Union any more, was doing it for Wells Fargo, did one for Alaska Federal 

Credit Union, "possibly," RP 296, Ins. 10-20. Mr. Cummings was asked 

to state whether or not he had been paid by clients for appraisals done in 

2014, whose names were incorporated into a summary list, but his 

response was not helpful. RP 297, Ins. 3-25. RP 298, Ins. 1-10. Onre-

direct, Mr. Cummings testified that Washington State Employees Credit 

Union ceased being his client "four or five" months ago and that 60 to 

65% of his work came from that client. RP 326, Ins. 9-21. 

7. Standard of living during the parties' marriage: 

Mrs. Cummings did testify to the standard of living during their 

marriage. RP 30, Ins. 16-25; RP 311-13. Mr. Cummings did not provide 

any testimony specific to the standard of living the parties had durini the 

marriage. RP 170-332. However, given the narrow scope of the issues for 

this appeal, that testimony will not be addressed in detail in this brief. 

8. Testimony regarding the nature of Mr. Cummings' 
business, "Professional Appraisals:" 

Mrs. Cummings testified that Mr. Cummings started his own 

business, Professional Appraisals, "about eight years ago ... " RP 29, In. 

l.L She also testified that he had no employees, that he had an office for 

himself at the house, and that his office supplies or equipment consisted of 

a "computer and cell phone." She also testified that, "I think we 
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purchased a fax machine for his office, but he was able to receive faxes on 

his computer." RP 29, lns. 15-25. She testified that he also had a desk 

and a file cabinet, but no other office furnishings. RP 30, lns. 1-6. 

Mr. Cummings did not refute any of Mrs. Cummings' testimony 

about his business at trial. RP 170-332. On direct examination, Mr. 

Cummings confirmed that he had no current employees, and that his son 

and son-in-law worked for him, "six-seven years ago." RP 187, lns1 16-

12.,. When asked ifhe could run his business out of the Dean property 

today, Mr. Cummings responded, "No. I only need one office." RP 325, 

lns. 13-17. 

9. Testimony and Evidence Re Distribution of Real 
Properties 

MRS. CUMMINGS: 

Mrs. Cummings testified that she believed her request for the real 

property distribution was "fair." RP 61, lns. 9-13. She testified that she 

wanted the Court to award her the family home because, " ... the home is 

what meant so much to me and being part of the home. . .. I wanteq to feel 

secure and safe in my home and never wanted to leave it." RP 61, lµs. 13-

1L 

Mrs. Cummings also testified that the rental properties should be 

awarded to Mr. Cummings because, 
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"I don't know anything about them. I don't know how to run 
them. I don't know how to repair them. I would have to obtain a 
property manager to run them, and even then, I wouldn't know 
what to look at when they were showing me. I wouldn't know 
what to compare them to. I wouldn't know if they were cheating 
me out of profits. It's not my business. It would be as if-if we 
were to own nursing homes together, and during this process he 
wanted to divest some of-I wanted to give him some of those and 
expect him to run them, he wouldn't know what to do. He 
wouldn't know all the rules and regulations. Well the same thing 
goes with the real estate. He knows real estate inside and outside. 
I know nothing about it. And he knows how to make them 
profitable. I don't. If I were to have these rentals, I would 
probably have to-I would have to sell them. And it appears that, 
as we went over the appraisals, that they are not in very good 
condition. So in order to sell them, I'd have to prepare them to be 
sold and have to fix them up, and I don't know the resources to call 
for that type of thing. I don't even have the money to put into 
them to fix them up to sell. I just felt that it would be easier on 
him to do what he wanted to do, and that's why I asked for it this 
way." RP 62, Ins. 4-25, pg. 63, Ins. 1-7.

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